
 
 
 

 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  Contact: Stacey Gilmour 

Scrutiny Officer 
Thursday, 25 May 2017 at 7.30 pm  Direct: 020-8379-4187 
Dugdale Centre - Dugdale Rooms 2 & 3  Tel: 020-8379-1000 

 Ext: 4187 
 E-mail: Stacey.gilmour@enfield.gov.uk 

 Council website: www.enfield.gov.uk 

 
Councillors : Derek Levy (Chair), Abdul Abdullahi, Guney Dogan, Nneka Keazor, 
Michael Rye OBE and Edward Smith 
 
 
Education Statutory Co-optees: 1 vacancy (Church of England diocese 
representative), Simon Goulden (other faiths/denominations representative), Tony 
Murphy (Catholic diocese representative), Alicia Meniru & 1 vacancy (Parent 
Governor Representative). 
 
Enfield Youth Parliament Co-optees (2) 
 
Support Officer – Claire Johnson (Governance and Scrutiny Manager) 
Elaine Huckell (Scrutiny Secretary) 
 

 
AGENDA – PART 1 

 
1. WELCOME & APOLOGIES   
 
2. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR   
 
 To elect the Vice Chair of the Committee. 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 Members of the Council are invited to identify any disclosable pecuniary, 

other pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests relevant to items on the agenda. 
 

4. CALL-IN OF REPORT: MERIDIAN WATER: LAND ACQUISITION  (Pages 
1 - 40) 

 
 To receive a report from the Executive Director of Finance, Resources & 

Customer Services outlining a Call-In received for consideration by Overview 
& Scrutiny on the following reason: (Report No:6) 
 
Cabinet Decision included on Publication of Decision List No:1/17-18 Key 
Decision 4442 (List Ref: 1/1/17-18) issued on 11 May 2017. 
 

Public Document Pack



It is proposed that consideration of the Call-In be structured as follows: 

 Brief outline of reasons for the Call-In by representative (s) of the 
Members who have called in the decision. 

 Response to the reasons provided for the Call-In by the Cabinet 
member responsible for taking the decision. 

 Debate by Overview & Scrutiny Committee and agreement on action 
to be taken. 

 
 
 

5. WORK PROGRAMME & WORK STREAMS 2017/18  (Pages 41 - 44) 
 
 The Deputy Leader, Cllr Georgiou, to outline the Cabinet’s priorities for 

2017/18. 
 
The Committee to discuss Work Programme items and select the new 
workstreams for 2017/18. 
 

6. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 APRIL 2017  (Pages 45 - 50) 
 
 To agree the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 April 2017. 

 
7. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   
 
 To note the dates of future meetings as follows: 

 
Provisional Call-Ins 
 
Tuesday 20 June 2017 
Thursday 10 August 2017 
Tuesday 14 September 2017 
Thursday 12 October 2017 
Thursday 9 November 2017 
Thursday 7 December 2017 
Thursday 21 December 2017  
 
Please note, the next business meetings of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee will be held on  
 
Thursday 15 June 2017 
Wednesday 12 July 2017 
Wednesday 6 September 2017 
Wednesday 8 November 2017 
 
The Overview & Scrutiny Budget Meeting will be held on 
 
Thursday 18 January 2018 
 

8. EXCLUSION OF PRESS & PUBLIC   
 



 To consider, if necessary, passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 excluding the press and public from the meeting 
for the item of business listed in Part 2 of the agenda on the grounds that it 
will involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in those 
paragraphs of Part 1 Schedule 12A to the Act (as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006), as are listed on 
the agenda (Members are asked to refer to the Part 2 agenda) 
 

PART 2 AGENDA 
 

9. PART 2 AGENDA CALL IN RE: MERIDIAN WATER LAND ACQUISITION   
 
 Attached for consideration as part of the call-in on this item, is the Part 2 

Cabinet report considered as part of the decision made by Cabinet on 9 May 
2017. 
 
The report should be read in conjunction with the Cabinet report attached at 
Appendix 1 to the Call-In report on the Part 1 agenda. 
 
(This document contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
(information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)) of Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972 as amended). 
 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



MUNICIPAL YEAR 2017/2018 REPORT NO. 6           
  

 
MEETING TITLE AND DATE:  
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee,  
25 May 2017 
 
REPORT OF: 
Executive Director of Finance, 
Resources and Customer 
Services 
 
Contact officers and telephone 
numbers: 
Asmat Hussain, Assistant Director Legal and Governance 
Tel: 020 8379 6438 
Email: asmat.hussain@enfield.gov.uk 
Claire Johnson, Interim Governance Team Manager  
Tel: 020 8379 4239 
E mail: claire.johnson@enfield.gov.uk 
 
 

  
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
  
1.1 This report details a call-in submitted in relation to the following decision: 

Cabinet Decision by Cabinet (9 May 2017) : Meridian Water: Land 
Acquisition. 
 

1.2 Details of this decision were included on Publication of Decision List No. 1/17-
18 (Ref. 1/1/17-18 – issued on 11 May 2017).  

  

1.3 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is asked to consider the decision that has been called-in for 
review. 

 

1.4 
 
 

The members who have called-in this decision do not believe it falls outside of 
the Council’s Policy Framework. 

 

 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 

 
That Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers the called-in decision and 

Subject: Meridian Water: Land Acquisition 

Wards: Upper Edmonton and Edmonton 
Green 
Key Decision No: 4442 

 
  

Agenda – Part: 1 
  
 

Cabinet Member consulted: N/A  

Item:  

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

either: 

(a) Refers the decision back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration setting out in writing the nature of its concerns.  The 
decision making person or body then has 14 working days in which to 
reconsider the decision; or 

(b) Refer the matter to full Council; or 

(c) Confirm the original decision. 

 
Once the Committee has considered the called-in decision and makes one of 
the recommendations listed at (a), (b) or (c) above, the call-in process is 
completed.  A decision cannot be called in more than once. 
 
If a decision is referred back to the decision making person or body; the 
implementation of that decision shall be suspended until such time as the 
decision making person or body reconsiders and either amends or confirms 
the decision, but the outcome on the decision should be reached within 14 
working days of the reference back.  The Committee will subsequently be 
informed of the outcome of any such decision. 

 
3. BACKGROUND/INTRODUCTION 
 
3.1 Please refer to Section 3 in the Cabinet Decision Report. 
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

None – Under the terms of the call-in procedure within the Council’s 
Constitution, Overview & Scrutiny Committee is required to consider 
any eligible decision called-in for review.  The alternative options 
available to Overview & Scrutiny Committee under the Council’s 
Constitution, when considering any call-in, have been detailed in 
section 2 above. 
 

5. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

To comply with the call-in procedure within the Council’s Constitution. 
 

6. COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE, RESOURCES AND 
CUSTOMER SERVICES AND OTHER DEPARTMENTS 

 
6.1 Financial Implications 
 
The financial implications relating to the called-in decision have been 
detailed in Section 6.1 of the Cabinet Decision Report.   

Page 2



 
 
6.2 Legal Implications  
 

 S 21, S 21A-21C Local Government Act 2000, s.19 Police and Justice 
 Act 2006 and regulations made under s.21E Local Government Act 
 2000 define the functions of the Overview and Scrutiny 
 committee.  The functions  of the committee include the ability to 
 consider, under the call-in  process, decisions of Cabinet, Cabinet 
 Sub-Committees, individual Cabinet Members or of officers under 
 delegated authority. 
  
 Part 4, Section 18 of the Council’s Constitution sets out the procedure 
 for call-in. Overview and Scrutiny Committee, having considered the 
 decision may: refer it back  to the decision making person or body for 
 reconsideration; refer to full Council or confirm the original decision.  
  
 The Constitution also sets out at section 18.2, decisions that are 
 exceptions to the call-in process.  
 

6.3 Property Implications  
 
The property implications relating to the called-in decision have been 
detailed in Section 6.3 of the Cabinet Decision Report.   
 

7. KEY RISKS  
 

The key risks identified relating to the called-in decision have been 
detailed in the Cabinet Decision Report. 
 

8. IMPACT ON COUNCIL PRIORITIES  
 

The way in which the called-in decision impacts on the Council priorities 
relating to fairness for all, growth and sustainability and strong 
communities have been detailed in the Cabinet Decision Report.  
 

9. EQUALITIES IMPACT IMPLICATIONS  
 

The equalities impact implications relating to the called-in decision 
have been detailed in the Cabinet Decision Report. 
 

10. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 
The performance management implications identified relating to the 
called-in decision have been detailed in the Cabinet Decision Report. 
 

11. HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The health and safety implications identified relating to the called-in 
decision have been detailed in the Cabinet Decision Report. 

Page 3



 
12. PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS  
 

The public health implications identified relating to the called-in 
decision have been detailed in the Cabinet Decision Report. 
 

Background Papers 
None 

Page 4



 

   

 

 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 
 

 
Call-In: Cabinet Decision: Meridian Water: Land 
Acquisition  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



 

   

 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 
 

Call-in request form submitted by 8 Members of 
the Council 

 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

 

 

APPENDIX 3 
 

Reasons for Call-in by Councillor calling in the 
decision  

 

& 
 

Briefing Report in response to called in 
decision 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         1 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2017/2018 REPORT NO.       

 
 
ACTION TO BE TAKEN UNDER  
DELEGATED AUTHORITY 
 
PORTFOLIO DECISION OF: 
Cabinet Member for Economic  
Development and the Cabinet Member 
for Finance in consultation with the  
Director of Regeneration and  
Environment and the Director of Finance, 
Resources and Customer Services 
 

Contact officer and telephone number:  

Paul Gardner 0208 3794754 
Email: paul.gardner@enfield.gov.uk  
 
Peter George 020 8379 3318 
E mail: peter.george@enfield.gov.uk 

 
Note – This a DRAFT REPORT prepared in response for the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 25th May 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject: Meridian Water: Land 
Acquisition 
 

  

Agenda – Part: 1
  

Wards: Upper Edmonton & 
Edmonton Green  
 

KD Num: 4442 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
  
1.1 On 9 May 2017 Cabinet (KD4442) approved the terms of the Agreement for 

Sale for the purchase of the two sites in the east of Meridian Water: Stonehill 
Estate (Stonehill) and (Hastingwood) subject to the demonstration of overall 
viability of the Meridian Water scheme. 
 

1.2 Authority to approve the overall viability of the Meridian Water scheme is 
delegated to the Cabinet Member for Economic Regeneration and Business 
Development and the Cabinet Member for Finance and Efficiency in 
consultation with the Executive Director Regeneration & Environment and the 
Executive Director Finance, Resources and Customer Services. 
 

1.3 Stonehill and Hastingwood (the Sites) are located on the east of the River Lea 
Navigation (the East Bank) which is currently designated as Strategic Industrial 
Land (SIL). The Council is working to secure release of SIL through the 
planning policy process and through negotiations with the Greater London 
Authority (GLA). This report summarises the planning context and sets out 
propositions for mitigating proposed release of SIL through the principle of “no 
net loss of SIL” whereby any release of SIL from the East Bank should be 
compensated for through re-designation of SIL elsewhere in the borough.  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 31

mailto:paul.gardner@enfield.gov.uk
mailto:peter.george@enfield.gov.uk


 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
 
3.1 On 9 May 2017 Cabinet (KD4442) approved the terms of the Agreement for 

Sale for the purchase of the two sites in the east of Meridian Water: 
Stonehill Estate (Stonehill) and (Hastingwood) subject to the 
demonstration of overall viability of the Meridian Water scheme. 

 
3.2 The two large Sites, currently in private ownership together comprise c. 32 

acres of land (c. 13 hectares) (see Red Line plan appended to Part 2 of the 
report). An addition of this land to the Council portfolio would take the total 
land holdings in Council ownership up to c. 87 acres (c. 35 hectares) or c. 
64% of the developable land in Meridian Water. 

 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 To note that the overall financial viability of the Meridian Water scheme is 

positive in each scenario considered for the purchase of Stonehill and 

Hastingwood, as set out in detail in Part 2 of this report. 

 

2.2 To authorise proceeding with the purchase of the Stonehill Industrial Estate 

(Stonehill) and Hastingwood Industrial Estate (Hastingwood) as per the 

recommendations in  sections 2.2 – 2.4  of Part 1 of the Report to Cabinet 9th 

May 2017 (KD 4442). 

 

2.3 To note the ongoing work to achieve a release of Strategic Industrial Land 

(SIL) at Meridian Water through the planning process. 

 

 

 
 
 

  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.4 This report sets out the alternative and mitigation options for the Sites should, 

in the worst case scenario, the Council not be able to secure any release of 

SIL. PwC have been commissioned to illustrate the potential impact of these 

scenarios against the base financial model for Meridian Water. This work 

highlights that even if no SIL release is achieved, the Council could deliver a 

scaled down project that is still viable and delivers a financial return to the 

Council by the end of the scheme. 

 
  

Page 32



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         3 

3.3 Further information about the Sites and the terms of acquisition are provided 
in the Cabinet report (KD4442). 

 
3.4 The focus of this Delegated Authority Report is to test the potential impact 

on the overall viability of the Meridian Water Scheme by modelling different 
scenarios in the context of the option to purchase of Stonehill & 
Hastingwood. The assumptions and inputs for the scenarios have been 
provided by the Meridian Water team and Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL), who 
have advised on projections for meanwhile income, land values, and 
residential sale values. PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), have provided 
financial analysis of the impact of different scenarios on the base financial 
model for Meridian Water. 

 
 
 
Planning Context 
 
3.5 The current London Plan was adopted in March 2016. The new London 

Plan is in the early stages of preparation and is timetabled for adoption in 
2019. Meridian Water is in the Upper Lee Valley Opportunity Area, and in 
October 2015 was designated as a Housing Zone. 

 
3.6 London Borough of Enfield Core Strategy commits the Council to meeting 

the housing growth targets as set out in the London Plan, namely to 
provide at least 11,000 homes in the 15-year period to 2025. The Core 
Strategy is currently being revised, with more ambitious housing targets 
responding to demographic change and higher housing demand in the 
borough. 

 
3.7 The Proposed Submission Edmonton Leeside Area Action Plan (ELAAP), 

the local area Planning Policy document that covers Meridian Water, was 
approved by Full Council on 25 January 2017. The Area Action Plan 
(preciously called the Central Leeside Area Action Plan (CLAAP)) was 
revised to respond to changed circumstances including the award of 
Housing Zone status, a need for more homes and jobs, Council purchase 
of land, developing proposals for Crossrail 2 and the procurement of a 
development partner for Meridian Water. The ELAAP consultation period 
was to 28th April 2017, and the Local Planning Authority is currently 
considering the submissions. 

 
3.8 The eastern area of Meridian Water, between the River Lee Navigation 

and the River Lea (the East Bank) (where Stonehill and Hastingwood are 
located) is currently designated as Strategic Industrial Land (SIL). The 
ELAAP proposes the removal of the SIL designation that currently covers 
this 18 hectare area of land called “Harbet Road Industrial Estate”. The 
document included substantial modelling evidence that demonstrates that 
de-designation is necessary in order to release the land to achieve the 
project’s scheme-wide ambition of 10,000 homes and 6,700 jobs. 

 

Page 33



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         4 

3.9 The Greater London Authority (GLA) commissioned AECOM in 2015 to 
undertake a strategic review of industrial land in London. The report found 
that the amount of industrial land in London has been steadily falling since 
2000 from c. 8.2k hectares in 2001 to c. 7k hectares in 2015 (a 16% 
contraction). The report also found that the amount of land designated as 
SIL has contracted by 7% since 2010. For Locally Significant Industrial 
Sites (designated at the Council level), the rate of decline is even more 
marked at 25% since 2010. Crucially, the report found that “past trends in 
industrial land release show an accelerated rate of release significantly 
above the LGA’s Land for Industry and Transport SPOG benchmark rates 
of release”. The trend rate of release for 2010 to 2015 is 105 hectares per 
annum compared with the SPG recommended rate of release of 37 
hectares per annum.  The report concluded that London is losing SIL at an 
unsustainable rate.1 In response to the report, the GLA is considering how 
to protect essential employment land whilst also enabling equally important 
residential-led mixed use development. 

 
3.10 The Council has not yet received a formal response from the GLA to the 

ELAAP consultation. However, the GLA has expressed concern over the 
loss of industrial land due to recent studies showing higher than expected 
levels of loss across London and a high level of demand for industrial land 
uses.  The Council is in ongoing discussions with the GLA, including 
examining the potential for the ELAAP to partially release SIL at the Harbet 
Road industrial estate on the basis of no net loss.  Further de-designation 
of SIL at Harbet Road can be assessed through the new Local Plan 
process, including the potential for allocation of new, offsetting SIL in other 
parts of the borough.  

 
3.11 GLA have also verbally said that they would support development with 

ground floor commercial and upper floor residential, and are currently 
exploring a new planning designation to achieve this. 

 
3.12 In response to concerns raised, therefore, the Local Planning Authority will 

need to prepare a supplementary document that will propose modifications 
to the ELAAP reflecting an agreed position with the GLA. This may include 
a staged approach to the SIL release (reflecting a borough wide-strategy of 
no-net loss of SIL), and the development of a new designation allowing a 
mixed use typology with commercial on the ground floor and residential on 
the upper floors.  

 
3.13 The table overleaf breaks down the Council’s proposed stages for SIL 

release in Meridian Water or mitigation measures to enable the type of 
mixed-use development proposed. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
1
 AECOM, London Industrial Land Supply & Economy Study, March 2016. P.2 (Exec Summary) 

Page 34



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         5 

Proposed Stages for SIL Release from the East Bank of Meridian Water 

Stage of SIL Release/ Retention Area of SIL 
(Ha) 

Timescale 

SEGRO site is being retained as 
SIL for e-commerce centre 

3 hectares 
retained 

No Change 

Release of SIL through 
compensatory equivalent within the 
ELAAP boundary (excl. Deephams) 

5 hectares 
released 

July 2018 
(adoption 
of ELAAP) 

Further release of SIL through 
compensatory equivalent within 
LBE through the Local Plan 
 
and/or 
 
Development of new designation 
allowing a mixed use typology with 
commercial on the ground floor and 
residential on the upper floors 
 

10 hectares 
released 
or  

re-designated 

December 
2018/2019 
(adoption 
of Local 
Plan) 

Total East Bank SIL 18 hectares  

 
 
3.14 It is important to remember that residential development is not proposed 

for the East Bank until the late 2020s. The ELAAP covers the whole of 
Meridian Water, and the broader proposal for the area of a substantial 
residential-led development has received support in the consultation 
process. As the revised-ELAAP moves towards full adoption next year, this 
will provide the planning policy support for the next phases of development 
at Meridian Water including the delivery of thousands of homes and 
comprehensive regeneration of this part of Enfield.  

 
Viability Options Appraisal 

 
 
3.15 When assessing the options below in relation to the Meridian Water 

scheme, viability is defined as the Council being able to recoup its 
investment in the project, i.e. that the post-finance return for any option is 
positive. 
 

3.16 As explained above, our base business plan for Meridian Water assumes 
that over the course of 5-10 years, we will achieve planning policy support 
for full SIL release in the East Bank. Our Base financial model therefore 
assumes the delivery of 10,000 homes and 6,700 jobs including residential-
led mixed use development on the East Bank. This financial model shows 
that the Meridian Water scheme as a whole is viable, producing a net 
positive return to the Council at the end of the scheme. However, in 
mitigation of the risk that SIL release is not achieved, it is prudent to 
consider alternative scenarios. 

 

Page 35



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         6 

3.17 We are modelling two alternative scenarios: Do not buy 
Stonehill/Hastingwood; and Buy Stonehill/Hastingwood, hold for ten years 
and then sell the Sites on the assumption that SIL is not released. Note that 
a “buy later” scenario (i.e. buy the Sites in ten years’ time) was ruled out in 
the Cabinet Report (KD 4442) due to the prohibitive cost of this option 
(please see Section 4.2 of the Cabinet Report). 

 
3.18 In summary the three scenarios, including the base case, are as follows: 
 

1. The Council buys the Stonehill and Hastingwood Sites, and proceeds 
with mixed-use development as set out in the Base Case Scenario 
(assumes full SIL release on the East Bank); 

2. The Council buys the Sites, holds the Sites until 2027 and then sells 
the Sites (assumes no SIL release on the East Bank); 

3. The Council does not buy the Stonehill and Hastingwood Sites; 
 
3.19 Scenario 1: Full SIL Release: Base Case Scenario 
 

This current base case scenario assumes full SIL release and mixed-use 
development on the East Bank in line with the Barratt London Master Plan 
(September 2016). The outputs of Scenario 1 are 10,000 homes and 6,700 
jobs.2 

 
3.20 Scenario 2:  No SIL Release – Reduced Scheme 
 

This Scenario is the worst case scenario. Despite best efforts, the Council is 
unable to get approval for any SIL release on the East Bank. The Council 
would therefore not proceed with development east of the River Lea 
Navigation with the important exception of the SEGRO e-commerce 
development which would still be delivered. The Council would sell its 
remaining landholdings on the East Bank (inclusive of Phoenix Wharf and 
VOSA) after ten years including the balance of the Stonehill land and the 
Hastingwood estate3. The outputs of Scenario 2 would be 6,000 homes and 
6,500 jobs delivered on the West Bank and via the SEGRO development. 

 
3.21 Scenario 3: Council does not buy Stonehill and Hastingwood 
 

The Scenario tests the impact on the financial model if the Council were to 
forgo the offer to acquire the Stonehill and Hastingwood Sites that is 
currently available. It assumes that any remaining Council owned land 
interests on the East Bank (Phoenix Wharf and VOSA) would be sold by 
June 2019 and Meridian Water development would terminate at the River 
Lea Navigation. The SEGRO e-commerce development would not be 
delivered.4 The outputs of Scenario 3 would be 6,000 homes and 4,500 
jobs. 

                                            
2
 Stonehill and Hastingwood Sites would themselves accommodate 2,200 of these homes. 

3
 The forecast value of sale in ten years incorporates a modest uplift in the value of the land of 

1%/annum  
4
 Note that a “buy later” scenario (i.e. buy the Sites in ten years’ time) was ruled out in the Cabinet 

Report (KD 4442) due to the excessive cost of this option (please see Section 4.2) 

Page 36



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         7 

 
 
3.22 For each scenario, the Council and its technical advisers have provided 

financial inputs and assumptions to PwC for it to compare these alternative 
scenarios against the base financial model. The modelling shows, that even 
in the worst case scenario (Scenario 3), the Council would still expect to 
receive a capital return on its investment. 

 
3.23 Full financial summaries of the PwC modelling are provided in Part 2 of this 

report including a detailed breakdown of the assumptions behind each 
scenario. 

  
 
4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 On 9th May, Cabinet agreed, subject to demonstration of overall viability, to 

proceed with the purchase of Stonehill and Hastingwood. 

4.2 The Cabinet report covered in detail alternative options that had been 
considered including: buying the Sites at a later date (ruled out due to the 
extremely high estimated cost of the Site once developed); compulsory 
acquisition (ruled out because CPO would not be supported by current 
planning policy) and a potential back-to-back agreement with SEGRO (ruled 
out because it would not be compliant with the competitive procurement 
process undertaken to select Barratt London as Master Developer, with 
SEGRO as its Commercial Partner).   

5. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 The report recommends proceeding with the acquisition because both the 

base case and the worst case scenario demonstrate the overall viability of 
the Meridian Water Scheme. 

 
5.2 While the worst case scenario, of no-SIL release, will result in a reduced 

scheme, with fewer total outputs, it would still ensure that the Council had 
significant control over the land and future development of the East Bank, 
crucial for securing a high quality, successful residential-led development on 
the West Bank. 

 

5.3 The testing of overall viability in the event of no-SIL release has been 
undertaken as a mitigation of the risk of no-SIL release. However, further to 
recent discussions with the GLA, it is strongly anticipated that full SIL 
release will be achievable on the East Bank in the medium term, on the 
basis of the agreed principal of “no-net loss of SIL” across the London 
Borough of Enfield, and in accordance with the GLA policy as stated in the 
London Plan of “managed release” of Strategic Industrial Land. 

 

 
 
 

Page 37



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         8 

6. COMMENTS OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE, RESOURCES AND 
CUSTOMER SERVICES, AND OTHER DEPARTMENTS 

 
6.1 Financial Implications 
 

See Part 2 report. 
 
6.2 Legal Implications  

 
6.2.1 The Council has power under section1(1) of the Localism Act 2011 to do 

anything that individuals generally may do provided it is not prohibited by 
legislation and subject to public law principles.  The recommendations 
detailed in this report are in accordance with the Council’s powers. 

 
6.2.2  The Council has a fiduciary duty to look after the funds entrusted to it and to 

ensure that its Council tax and ratepayers’ money is spent appropriately.  
For that reason, the Council must carefully consider any project it embarks 
on to ensure that it is making decisions based on a proper assessment of 
risk and rewards/outcomes. 

 
  
6.3 Property Implications  
 

To complete 

 
7. KEY RISKS  

 

 
 

Risk – The proposed submission Edmonton Leeside Area Action Plan 
(ELAAP) is not adopted, and the Council is unable to release the SIL east of 
the River Lea Navigation for residential-led development. 

 
Risk Assessment – In response to the consultation on the precursor for the 
ELAAP (the CLAAP) in 2014, the GLA indicated in principle support for the 
partial release of 4.5 hectares of SIL in the East Bank of Meridian Water. 
While the current AAP proposes to go further by proposing full SIL release, 
this is supported by a substantial evidence base as to why this is necessary 
in order to deliver the desired outputs of homes and jobs, and protecting 
appropriate densities of development and place quality. Furthermore, 
current discussions with the GLA have focused on the principle of “no-net 
loss of SIL” across the London Borough of Enfield. This report has 
introduced compromise mechanisms including the partial retention of SIL 
(SEGRO land) and proposed modifications to the ELAAP, and the Local 
Plan, to promote managed release of SIL in Meridian Water and 
compensatory designation of SIL elsewhere in Edmonton Leeside or in the 
Borough. It has also introduced the concept of a new designation with a new 
mixed-use typology with commercial at ground floor and residential on the 

Page 38



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         9 

upper floors that would also help mitigate the impact of proposed SIL 
release.  

 
Mitigation – In mitigation of this risk, the Council has modelled the scenario 
of no-SIL release and explored what would be the consequences of this 
scenario. These have been analysed financially through the Meridian Water 
financial model. This work, undertaken by PwC demonstrates that even in 
the worst case scenario, that no SIL is released, and development is 
reduced to the area west of the river, with the exception of the e-commerce 
SEGRO development, the Council would still be able to make a return on 
the scheme.  

 
As conversations with GLA progress, further analysis will be undertaken to 
investigate intermediate scenarios, including: 

 
(1) co-location of employment and residential uses i.e. ground floor 

employment and upper floor residential – a proposal which the GLA has 
already confirmed in meeting that they support in principle; and 
 

(2) increasing the density of housing development on the remaining 
Meridian Water site west of the River Lea Navigation. 

 
However as the worst case scenario, of a scaled down Meridian Water 
scheme, has been demonstrated to be viable, any intermediate option would 
only be pursued if could be shown that it improved the viability as well as the 
overall outputs of the project. 

 
8. IMPACT ON COUNCIL PRIORITIES  
 
8.1 The immediate acquisition of the Sites described in this Report would give 

the Council control over this important land holding, helping to realise the 
long-term aspiration for Meridian Water, taking development of new homes 
up to the Lee Valley Regional Park. The preferred Master Developer has 
now been selected and has begun work with the Council and the design 
team on progressing Meridian Water. This acquisition helps to open up new 
opportunities for developing the next stages of mixed use residential-led 
development after Zone 1, and provides an immediate opportunity to 
develop a pioneering e-commerce centre that will accommodate between up 
to 2,000 jobs. By offering employment opportunity in a range of salary 
brackets, and the opportunity for substantial housing development in the 
future, this stage of development will provide a concrete example of 
achieving fairness for all, delivering sustainable growth and development of 
strong communities. 

 
9. EQUALITY IMPACT IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1 The draft Masterplan was subject to an initial Equalities Impact 

Assessment/Analysis (EqIA) to ensure that consultation promoted equal 
opportunities.  During the master-planning process, demographic data was 
collected in relation to residents of Edmonton in order to determine which 

Page 39



 

RE 16/105 C Part 1                                         10 

groups to target for community engagement and to also help assess the 
equalities issues the Masterplan proposals will need to consider.  

 
9.2 These issues were summarised in the final EqIA report that was reported to 

the Local Plan Cabinet Sub-Committee at its 11th September 2013 meeting. 
 
9.3 Any further equalities impact issues will be examined at the planning 

application stage on individual sites.  
 
10. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS  
 
10.1 Delivery of a comprehensive regeneration scheme at Meridian Water is a 

corporate priority within the Council’s Business Plan for 2016-2018.  
Completion of the Masterplan and the delivery of phased infrastructure 
improvements including increased rail services, station improvements and 
new homes will help to meet the strategic priority: “a borough that attracts 
inward investment and supports sustainable regeneration and growth.” 

 
11. HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 There are no Public Health Implications directly arising from the acquisition 

of the Site pursuant to the terms of the Agreement but the intention to 
remediate and develop the Site when finally used for residential 
development is likely to have positive benefits.   

 
 
12. PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 A component of the Meridian Water Masterplan concerns the need to 

improve access to healthy living corridors.  In accordance with the Core 
Strategy, all new areas brought forward for development will have 
appropriate provision of green space and parks, as well as sufficient access 
to new sports and health facilities to support the new communities. 

 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
Appendices 
 
See Part 2 

Page 40



                                     Potential Workstreams 2017/18 

 

Cllr Achilleas Georgiou will be outlining the Council priorities for the coming year and 

Members may agree to scrutinise a particular area as a workstream or an item on 

the work programme. In addition, the following is a summary of the topics discussed 

at the previous OSC meeting, with additional detail supplied, providing a possible 

scope.  

 

The Council’s relationship with the voluntary sector 

 Funding – current levels and range of sources 

 Enfield Compact – Provided a service framework for building good and productive 

relationships between the voluntary and community sector and the wide range of 

statutory authorities in Enfield. 

 Range of roles –support for vulnerable people, local activism, sports and hobbies 

 Benefits of an active and healthy voluntary sector.  

 How do voluntary groups support Council priorities? 

 Second tier organisations – Enfield Voluntary Action 

 Partnership working between similar groups 

 Pressures and challenges 

 Lewisham and Waltham Forest have conducted recent reviews 

 

Loneliness and Social Isolation 

 The impact of loneliness on our health - loneliness increases the likelihood of 
mortality by 26%. 

 Social isolation can be defined in relation to social contacts, social participation and 
social inclusion. A common definition would be: the absence of social relationships. It 
is best thought of as an objective measure not a subjective feeling. 

 The Local Authority response – care packages 

 The VS role 

 Health sector interventions – research suggests that the physical effects of 

isolation are twice as bad for our health as obesity - weakening the body’s ability to 

fight viruses, pushing blood pressure into the danger zone for heart attacks or 

strokes and increasing the risk of early death. 

 Camden is currently undertaking scrutiny of this subject. 

 

 

 

Page 41 Agenda Item 5



 

Human Trafficking 

 Human trafficking involves recruitment, harbouring or transporting people into 
a situation of exploitation through the use of violence, deception or coercion 
and forced to work against their will. 

 People can be trafficked for many different forms of exploitation such as 
forced prostitution, forced labour, forced begging, forced criminality, domestic 
servitude, forced marriage, and forced organ removal. 

 The new Modern Slavery Act and the Care Act both give Local Authorities 

new statutory responsibilities in this area.  

 The Human Trafficking Foundation wishes to work with Scrutiny Panels to 

identify where gaps exist and promote best practice.  

 

Increases in fixed term and permanent exclusion rates in primary schools 

 Possible reasons for exclusion include: 
- Violent or threatening behavior towards a member of staff or another pupil 
- Damage or threat of damage to school property 
- Sexual misconduct, racist behavior and bullying 
- Drug or alcohol related incidents 
- Carrying an offensive weapon 

 Measures taken to reduce number of exclusions 

 Is there a predominant reason for exclusion? 

 Best practice within Enfield Schools  

 Identify and work with schools displaying high numbers of exclusions 

 What are other Boroughs doing to address the issue? 

The 4 topics above were the main issues discussed in detail at the previous OSC 

meeting. The following subjects could provide workstreams later in the year or form a 

substantive item on the OSC Work Programme:- 

Trading Companies 

Home to School Transport Service 

Governance Procedures and the Decision Making Process 

Procurement Capital and Shared Assets 

Transport Connectivity (more appropriate for the Transport Users Group?) 

Support available to Carers (more appropriate for Health Panel?) 

In post meeting correspondence, Cllr Levy also suggested ‘Contract Compliance’ as 

a possible workstream for consideration by OSC. 

Page 42

http://www.antislavery.org/slavery-today/forced-labour/
http://www.antislavery.org/what-we-do/where-we-work/uk/trafficking-crime-begging/
http://www.antislavery.org/slavery-today/domestic-work-and-slavery/
http://www.antislavery.org/slavery-today/domestic-work-and-slavery/
http://www.antislavery.org/slavery-today/child-and-forced-marriage/


 

In addition to the above, Cllr Levy recently attended a London Scrutiny Network 

meeting and identified a number of scrutiny reviews being carried out by other 

boroughs.  

Hackney – a major review of air quality 

Kensington and Chelsea – reviewing commissioning and procurement 

City of Westminster- also reviewing air quality and monitoring emissions from 

buildings and various forms of transport 

Waltham Forest- As a net importer of families being housed in Outer London as a 

result of the new benefit conditions, a review is being undertaken to consider the 

resultant costs of the additional responsibilities incurred by having extra placements 

in the borough and their impact on wider local authority services 

 

  

  

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 27.4.2017 

 

- 371 - 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
HELD ON THURSDAY, 27 APRIL 2017 

 
COUNCILLORS Derek Levy, Abdul Abdullahi, Katherine Chibah, Edward 

Smith, Nneka Keazor and Michael Rye OBE 
  

STATUTORY  
CO-OPTEES: 

1 vacancy (Church of England diocese representative), Mr 
Simon Goulden (other faiths/denominations representative), 
Mr Tony Murphy (Catholic diocese representative), Alicia 
Meniru & 1 vacancy (Parent Governor representative) - Italics 
Denotes absence 

 
OFFICERS: Mark Wathen, Inward Investment Manager 
 Jan Rowley, Head of Neighbourhood Regeneration 
 Bindi Nagra, Assistant Director – Strategy & Resources 

(HHASC) 
 Julie Mimnagh, Head of Human Resources Operations 
  Keezia Obi, Head of Service – Enfield 2017 
 Andy Ellis, Governance & Scrutiny Officer 
 Clare Bryant, Governance & Scrutiny Secretary 
 
449   
WELCOME & APOLOGIES  
 
The Chair welcomed attendees to the meeting. Apologies for absence were 
received from Councillor Joanne Laban, Tony Murphy and Simon Goulden. It 
was noted that Councillor Michael Rye was substituting for Councillor Joanne 
Laban 
 
As it was the last meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 
municipal year 2016/17, Councillor Levy thanked all participants of the 
Committee for their work. 
 
NOTED that Item 6, Adoption Regionalisation, was deferred to a future 
meeting. 
 
450   
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were put forward. 
 
451   
OSC WORKSTREAMS FOR 2017/18  
 
Following the last meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) 
where discussions took place on potential items for the Workstreams for the 
2017/18, a list was produced of potential Workstreams for further comment 
and discussion.  
 

Public Document PackPage 45 Agenda Item 6



 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 27.4.2017 

 

- 372 - 

The Chair encouraged Members to come forward with their other ideas and 
comment on the proposed list.  
 
The following key points were made: 

 Councillor Levy felt the most appropriate Workstreams were the 
Councils relationship with the voluntary sector, Loneliness and isolation 
human trafficking and increases in fixed term and permanent exclusion 
rates in primary schools.  

 Councillor Smith felt the list produced had several reasonable topics to 
review. He was most interested in: 

a) Human Trafficking, as it was felt this is an under reported 
topic and the issue could use extra publicity.  

b) Trading Companies, as this is a change in direction that 
many local authorities are facing and the workstream could 
consider the performance and governance of these 
companies.  

 Councillor Rye raised concerns over picking a broad topic as the 
recommendations made would be outside of the Councils control. He 
felt that considering loneliness and isolation was a good topic as it 
impacts many council services. 

 Councillor Keazor suggested the following workstreams: 
a) Home to School Transport Services – This is frequently a 

service with an overspend and could be done as a shorter 
Task and Finish workstream. 

b) Transport Connectivity – This could look at transport links 
across the borough, including the new Cycle Enfield Lanes 
and pedestrian travel. As buses are a TFL responsibility an 
recommendations to do with that would be more of a 
lobbying exercise than a recommendation. 

 Councillor Abdullahi suggested a workstream on the support available 
to carers. The Carers Act means the Council is obligated to support 
carers. The Workstream could also look at the work done alongside 
the voluntary sector.  

 Councillor Dogan, who will be a member of the OSC next municipal 
year, suggested a review of governance procedures within the council 
and decision making processes within the various departments. He 
also recommended a workstream on Procurement Capital and Shared 
Assets to assess where the Council could be more accountable and 
financially productive for the assets they have.  

 
ACTION: Andy Ellis to produce a summary of the discussion on potential 
workstreams and circulate this to members prior to the meeting on 25th 
May 2017 when the Workstreams will be agreed.  

 
452   
INWARD INVESTMENT UPDATE  
 
Cabinet Member for Economic Regeneration & Business Development, 
Councilor Alan Sitkin, provided the update on the Council’s inward investment. 
A number of steps taken by the Council to secure new business and industry 

Page 46



 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 27.4.2017 

 

- 373 - 

in the borough were discussed. The prime responsibility of inward investment 
team was to present Enfield to businesses and bring employers to the 
borough.  
 
It was highlighted from the discussion that although bringing businesses to 
Enfield was very successful the same level of success was not being had with 
retail.  
ACTION: Invite Councillor Sitkin to a future meeting to discuss the Enfield 
Town Master Plan and the issues with failing retail in the borough.  
 
The following questions were taken from members of the Panel: 
Q) How is Enfield sold uniquely to companies interested in moving?  
A) Many opportunities arise due to the strategic location of the borough which 
allows companies to serve inner London and outside London although the 
Council also uses various channel to market the borough, such as networking 
and discussing opportunities with other boroughs.  
 
Enfield is part of the London Growth Network where business and retail 
opportunities are logged and referred online. The network hosts over 450 
businesses with a focus of moving inward investment to out of London. 
 
Q) What is the department doing for local people in Enfield? 
A) Construction in Enfield is booming, but this is also one of the most difficult 
industries to get into. A ‘Build Enfield’ program is being taken into schools to 
show Enfield’s young people the future opportunities in construction. It is 
important to upskill the workforce already in Enfield. 
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Sitkin and his officers for the update. 
 
453   
BETTER CARE FUND/ DELAYED TRANSFER OF CARE  
 
Bindi Nagra, Assistant Director Health Housing and Adult Social Care, and 
Keezia Obi, Head of Service Enfield 2017 provided a report on the Better 
Care Fund and Delayed Transfers of Care. 
 
The following key points were highlighted from the report and the discussion: 

 At the start of the financial year there was a significant overspend, 
however, the end of the year will be reached on budget. 

 There is a high demand on accident and emergency services and 
social care services due to the boroughs ageing population and the 
growth of the population. 

 Delayed transfers of care (DTOCs) have seen increases in Enfield. 
These could be from reasons such as a person’s health delaying them 
or being unable to find suitable accommodation for a patient.  As this is 
a national issue one of the Better Care Funds conditions for 2017/19 is 
manging transfers of care which will look at reducing the delays.  

 There is an increase in the demand for residential care with more 
complex care needs but staying for short placement lengths. It is not 

Page 47



 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 27.4.2017 

 

- 374 - 

uncommon for have no vacancies in their residential care providers 
despite having the second largest number of care homes in London.  

 It is expected that the Better Care Fund for 2017/18 will provided at the 
same level as 2016/17. Additional funding will be received for Adult 
Social Care. 

 
The following comments were raised by members of the Committee: 

 Councillor Chibah asked whether problems with care related to 
agency staff being used rather than the Council having in house 
carers. Bindi explained that providing the service in house would be 
more expensive for the Council than using agency staff. There are 
national issues recruiting people into the care sector as the jobs are 
often low paid and challenging.  

 Councillor Abdullahi queried whether existing care agencies in the 
borough are sufficient. Bindi informed the Committee that the CQC 
regulations on the way care homes are regulated have been 
improved. Looking at local authorities across London, Enfield is 
doing very well with regards to the level and amount of care 
available.  

 Councillor Smith raised concerns on the publicity that care homes 
receive on how they are struggling and asked whether care homes 
are financially viable. It was explained that local authorities have 
increased the cost of care by 8% to stabilize the market. 

 
The Chair thanked Bindi and Keezia for attending the meeting.   

 
454   
ADOPTION REGIONALISATION  
 
This item was deferred to a future meeting.  
 
455   
EMPLOYING AND SUPPORTING STAFF WITH DISABILITIES AND 
MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES  
 
Julie Mimnagh, Head of Human Resources Operations, provided an overview 
on the Councils approach to supporting people with disabilities and mental 
health issues at work. The following points were made: 

 A statement is put on all adverts for all vacancies highlighting Enfield 
Councils equal opportunities policy.  

 Interviews are guaranteed for people with learning difficulties and 
mental health issues if they meet the criteria for the job they are 
applying for. 

 When a person will a disability starts working at the Council 
occupational assessments are made to ensure people are supported 
properly. 

 There are many council policies and a range of learning & development 
opportunities in place for all staff to ensure everyone is treated fairly 
and equally.  

Page 48



 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 27.4.2017 

 

- 375 - 

 A pilot scheme took place called the career returns programme. This 
included a six-month paid work placement and was open to people who 
have taken a carer break due to ill-health. This scheme has seen 
several professionals return to work.  

 Confidential counselling is available to all members of staff. Information 
on this is available to staff through the internal staff website. 
Occupational Health also provides support to members of staff on a 
longer-term basis.  

 Absence due to stress and anxiety has increased over the last two 
years. There is no way to say for certain whether this is due to staff 
workloads. Work is being done to ensure staff are aware of when they 
need to reach out for help.  

 
The Chair thanked Julie for attending the Committee. 
 
456   
SCRUTINY WORKSTREAM REPORTS  
 
Councillor Chibah provided the final report from the Housing Repairs Scrutiny 
Workstream. The following recommendations were highlighted in the report: 

1. The Council ran a campaign using estate based communication to 
provide details to tenants of their estate managers. This information is 
also to be provided to Ward Councillors for use in their ward surgeries.  

2. Clear communication protocols and procedures between the Council, 
contractor and tenant should form part of the action plans with each 
contractor. 

3. The Council consider phasing contracts in the future to avoid all 
contracts starting at the same time.  

4. The Council undertake a detailed risk analysis/feasibility study looking 
at the pros and cons of bringing voids in house including reviewing 
what other local authorities have done, what has worked and what has 
improved. Should this show advantages the Council look to see if this 
could be translated to the repairs contract. 

5. The Council run a communication campaign advising residents what to 
do and what not to do to avoid contributing to condensation problems. 

 
The members of the Committee raised the following points: 

 Councillor Rye felt that estate managers should make themselves 
known to tenants. He also felt that’s voids could be dealt with by 
Councillors putting pressure on companies.  

 Councillor Smith state that there is a Housing Board which Councillors 
can be involved in. The 4 current repairs and maintenance contractors 
the Council has are not equipped to deal with the contracts so the 
Council is struggling to raise performance.  

 
Councillor Levy thanked Councillor Chibah and the other members of the 
Workstream for their work.  
 
Councillor Smith provided a report on Land Planning at Meridian Water. He 
felt there were no clear reasons why there had been considerable delays 

Page 49



 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - 27.4.2017 

 

- 376 - 

getting the report to the Committee. The following recommendations were 
highlighted in the report: 

1. OSC to receive future updates on Meridian Water, particularly on: 
a. The financial viability of the development as it progresses, 
b. The realism of the jobs offer 
c. Detailed updates on the visual appearance and density, of the 

development 
d. The Local First principal and risk register 

2. OSC to receive and comment on the final versions of the Meridian 
Water Regeneration Strategy and Action Plan including the provision of 
education and health facilities. 

3. OSC to receive updates on the progress towards 4 trains per house, 
and any additional costs incurred by the Council.  

 
It was felt this is a hugely important issue and needs to be monitored by a 
variety of officers, committees and the OSC. It was suggested that the 
monitoring of this workstream could be a single item agenda for the OSC.  
 
Councillor Levy thanked Councillor Smith and the other members of the 
Workstream for their work.  
 
457   
WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17  
 
Councillor Levy felt that the Workstream for 2016/17 had worked well as well 
as being flexible to accommodate items which were not planned but important 
for the Committee to address. 
 
For 2017/18 more meetings for the OSC have been planned.  
 
458   
MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 21 MARCH 2017  
 
AGREED the minutes of the meeting held on 21 March 2017. 
 
459   
DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The dates of future meetings will be agreed at the meeting of Annual Council 
on 10 May 2017. 
 

Page 50


	Agenda
	4 CALL-IN OF REPORT: MERIDIAN WATER: LAND ACQUISITION
	Appendix 1  Meridian Water Land Acquisition
	Part 1 report Meridian Water Land Acquisition
	Appendix 2 Meridian Water land Acquisition
	signed call in sheet
	Appendix 3 - reasons for call in
	signed reasons for call-in
	DAR Stonehill Part 1 - response to reasons for call-in

	5 WORK PROGRAMME & WORK STREAMS 2017/18
	6 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 APRIL 2017
	Minutes


